IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

) Jorge Navarrete Clerk)	
Defendant and Appellant.	I ama Novembro Clark	
MISAEL VENCES MAYA,	OCT 0 8 2019	
	SUPREME COURT FILED	
vs.		
Plaintiff and Respondent,) 2 nd Crim. No. B290589	
THE PEOPLE,) Crim. No. S255371	

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF VENTURA COUNTY HON. BRUCE A. YOUNG, JUDGE PRESIDING SUPERIOR COURT NO. 2010031209

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Wayne C. Tobin [SBN 182616] Attorney at Law 1560-1 Newbury Road #346 Newbury Park, CA 91320-3448 (805) 499-7656 wsjmwtobin@aol.com

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE,) Crim. No. S255371
Plaintiff and Respondent,) 2 nd Crim. No. B290589
VS.)
)

INTRODUCTION

This Court has a granted review on the following question: "Does Penal Code section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), which sets forth a procedure to obtain the setting aside of a guilty verdict, authorize a court to consider an individual's time spent in immigration custody, after judgment of conviction, as part of the determination whether that individual has lived an 'honest and upright life.'" (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.520(b)(2)(A).) ¹

¹ Hereinafter, all statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In an amended information filed on June 30, 2011, appellant was charged in count five with violating Health and Safety Code section 11377, subdivision (a) [possession of methamphetamine], a felony, on or about May 3, 2010. (RT 13, CT 30.) He was also charged with two prison priors pursuant to section 667.5, subdivision (b). (CT 31.) On June 30, 2011, appellant entered a guilty plea in count five and admitted the prison prior allegations. (RT 17-18, CT 30-31.) He also pled guilty to count one of the amended information which charged him with felony driving under the influence and enhancements. (RT 17-18, CT 30-31.)

On July 7, 2011, appellant was sentenced to four years and eight months imprisonment in case number 2010031209. (RT 29, CT 35.) The prison sentence included a consecutive eight-month term in count five. (RT 29, CT 35.)

Following the passage of Proposition 47, the conviction in count five was reclassified as a misdemeanor on October 1, 2015. (RT 51, CT 39.)

On April 11, 2018, appellant moved to expunge the conviction in count five pursuant to section 1203.4a. (RT 36-41, CT 43.) The motion was denied. (RT 41, CT 43.) On May 21, 2018, the court denied appellant's motion to reconsider. (RT 53, CT 60.) A timely notice of appeal was filed on June 7, 2018. (CT 61.)

In a published decision in case number B290589, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Six (per Gilbert, P.J.) affirmed the court's denial of appellant's expungement motion on March 21, 2019.

Justice Tangeman filed a dissenting opinion. (*People v. Maya* (2019) 33

Cal.App.5th 266.) A petition for rehearing was not filed.

Appellant filed a timely petition for review which was granted by this Court on July 10, 2019. On August 8, 2019, this Court appointed the undersigned to represent appellant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The instant appeal does not raise any issues concerning the facts of the underlying offenses. Therefore, a statement of facts is omitted. (*People v. White* (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 914, 916.)

ARGUMENT

I. COURT MAY CONSIDER DEFENDANT'S GOOD BEHAVIOR DURING PERIOD OF IMMIGRATION DETENTION IN DETERMINING WHETHER HE HAS LED AN HONEST AND UPRIGHT LIFE UNDER SECTION 1203.4a.

A. Introduction.

In *People v. Maya*, the Court of Appeal recently held that good behavior in an institutional setting does not qualify as honest and upright living for purposes of granting expungement relief under section 1203.4a. (*People v. Maya, supra*, 33 Cal.App.5th at p. 270.) As set forth below, the dissenting opinion in *Maya* conforms to the legislative intent and serves public policy interests.

"The majority opinion concludes that 'compliance with prison regulations in an institutional setting does not satisfy the requirement of an honest and upright life.' [Citation omitted.] No authority is cited for this conclusion because none exists." (*People v. Maya, supra*, 33 Cal.App.5th at p. 272 [Tangeman, J., dissenting].)

"The plain language of section 1203.4a compels the opposite result.

The statute requires only that the misdemeanant comply with the law for one year following conviction [citation omitted]. This includes time spent in custody, for the language plainly applies to misdemeanants denied probation and sentenced outright, commencing 'from the date of pronouncement of judgment,' not the date of release from custody." (Maya,

supra, at p. 272 [Tangeman, J., dissenting]; §1203.4a, subd. (a).)

Due to the broad relief afforded by Proposition 47, previous felony convictions resulting in prison sentences can now be recalled or redesignated, and, thereby, reclassified as misdemeanors. (§1170.18.) After reclassification, the conviction is a misdemeanor for all purposes allowing a defendant to seek relief under section 1203.4a despite having served a prison term. (*People v. Khamvongsa* (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 1239.)

However, despite reclassification of a felony drug possession offense to a misdemeanor, the conviction can still subject the immigrant defendant to federal detention following his release from state prison due to federal immigration statutes addressing controlled substance offenses. (*Maya*, at pp. 268-269; *Padilla v. Kentucky* (2010) 559 U.S. 356, 368 [130 S.Ct. 1473, 176 L.Ed2d 284].) Under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), the defendant is required to have "lived an honest and upright life" since the pronouncement of judgment. (§1203.4a, subd. (a).) Due to the prospect of immigration detention after the sentence has been served, this period of honest and upright living may necessarily include time that the defendant has spent or is spending in immigration custody.

In denying the expungement motion, the superior court in the instant case ruled that it would not consider appellant's good behavior while he was in immigration detention in assessing whether appellant lived an honest

and upright life since the pronouncement of judgment. (RT 41, 53.) When the court denied the expungement motion, appellant had been subject to immigration detention since late 2012 when he was released from state prison. (RT 53, CT 51-52, 66.) As the defendant had no control over being placed in immigration detention, any good behavior while subject to immigration detention should have qualified as an honest and upright life for purposes of section 1203.4a.

The superior court also found that appellant had not established an honest and upright life because he had not been subject to parole or post-release supervision after his release from prison. (RT 39, 49-50.) This should not have been a disqualifying factor because he was immediately placed in immigration detention after being released from state prison.

Thus, he had no opportunity to prove himself on parole or supervision.

The majority of the Court of Appeal in *People v. Maya*, *supra*, 33 Cal.App.5th 266, held that the court "did not abuse its discretion by concluding that [appellant] has not established that he has led an honest and upright life during his state and federal custody. Compliance with prison regulations in an institutional setting does not satisfy the requirement of an honest and upright life. A custodial setting necessarily restricts an inmate's exercise of free will; an honest and upright life demands more than mere compliance with prison regulations or participation in prison classes and

activities. Prison confinement necessarily precludes evidence of inmate behavior in the face of outside temptation." (Maya, supra, 33 Cal.App.5th at p. 270.)

The majority opinion, however, did not consider the criminal activity that permeates our current prison system and, the numerous penal statutes enacted to prevent it, in assessing whether good conduct in custody qualifies as honest and upright living. (See *Maya*, at p. 272 [Tangeman, J., dissenting].)

While an inmate's compliance with the rules and regulations of Alcatraz in 1960 might not evince honest and upright living due to the iron-fisted control of prison authorities in a bygone era, today's prison system is quite different and the need for regulation is great. (See *In re Johnson* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 290, 296.) Today, there is plenty of "outside temptation" from various forces both in and out of the prison system. As a matter of reasonable statutory construction and basic fairness, a defendant seeking expungement relief should have his good behavior in a custodial setting considered under the expungement statute.

Appellant's situation also implicates the concerns of immigration detainees. Denying expungement relief to immigrants because they are subject to immigration detention is unfair because they may have no other way to establish that they have lived an honest and upright life since the

pronouncement of judgment. Thus, the instant case implicates the policy considerations discussed in cases such as *People v. Cervantes* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 291 and *People v. Galvan* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 978, where immigrant probationers were subject to probation violations for reasons beyond their control.

As such, the order denying expungement should be reversed. The matter should be remanded so that court can consider whether appellant lived an honest life while subject to immigration detention after being released from state prison.

B. Proceedings Below.

At the initial expungement hearing on April 11, 2018, defense counsel argued that appellant had led an honest and upright life while in custody. (RT 37.) The prosecution countered that appellant was placed directly into federal immigration custody after his release from state prison, and, therefore, did not establish that he led an honest and upright life. (RT 39.) The prosecution stated as follows:

I don't think it's appropriate given the circumstance. And I'm [sic] also want to point out that since his release in custody, he was not being supervised. He's never been supervised on PROS or PCRS because he went directly into federal custody. So there has been no period where he successfully or satisfactorily completed probation or even the post custody release because he was directly into federal custody. So there's been no period even to evaluate. And that's given his

own situation. He put himself in the situation by getting eight DUIs in a matter of three years and doing a four-year prison commitment on the last DUI. (RT 39.)

Defense counsel responded that appellant's good behavior while in custody should qualify under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) noting that people in custody frequently engage in criminal behavior. (RT 39.) In particular, defense counsel argued that appellant had been in some form of custody for eight years and had "lived an honest and upright life." (RT 40.) Defense counsel requested expungement relief in count five on both statutory and discretionary grounds. (RT 40.) ²

The court denied relief on statutory grounds and refused to exercise its discretion to grant relief. The court stated as follows:

I've heard the argument of counsel. You made your record. I disagree. I think the logic is flawed. Being in custody for substantial periods of time is calling that an honest and upright life. I disagree. You've made your record. I'm denying your request for expungement on all grounds. (RT 41.)

On May 21, 2018, appellant requested reconsideration of the court's denial of the expungement motion. (RT 43.) The record reflects that appellant was still subject to immigration detention at that point. (RT 43.) Defense counsel argued that expungement must be ordered if all of the

² See section 1203.4a, subdivision (b) regarding a court's discretion to grant expungement relief.

conditions of section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) are met claiming that appellant had no arrests and had completed all custody conditions. (RT 45.)

In denying the motion for reconsideration, the court ruled that although appellant had been placed in immigration custody after serving his prison term, his behavior in immigration custody could not qualify as an honest and upright life. The court stated as follows:

And as we know and commented about, [appellant] has never been released from custody as reflected on page 2 of the probation report. An argument might have been able to be made if he was on Post Release Community Supervision but apparently that lasted for a matter of days before ICE picked him up and where he is in San Diego at this time in a federal detention facility. There's been no opportunity by the Court or probation or by parole officers to determine whether he leads a law abiding life when out of custody and I think that's what probation and parole and Post Release Supervision is all about. So I think your arguments are misplaced and your motion for reconsideration is denied. (RT 53.)

C. Expungement Statute Allows Court to Consider

Defendant's Custodial Time As Part of Honest and Upright

Life.

Section 1203.4a was adopted in 1963, approximately 28 years after section 1203.4. (*People v. Bradley* (1967) 248 Cal.App.2d 887, 889.) It is available as a remedy for defendants who were convicted of a misdemeanor but not granted probation. (*Id.*) Under section 1203.4a, a court must grant expungement as follows:

Every defendant convicted of a misdemeanor and not granted probation, . . . at any time after the lapse of one year from the

date of pronouncement of judgment, if he or she has fully complied with and performed the sentence of the court, is not then serving a sentence for any offense and is not under charge of commission of any crime, and has, since the pronouncement of judgment, lived an honest and upright life and has conformed to and obeyed the laws of the land, be permitted by the court to withdraw his or her guilty plea . . . and enter a plea of not guilty . . . the court shall thereupon dismiss the accusatory pleading against the defendant, who shall thereafter be released from all penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense of which he or she has been convicted . . ." (§1203.4a, subd. (a).)

In a recent decision, the Court of Appeal held that a defendant is eligible for relief under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) despite having served prison time for a felony when the offense is subsequently reclassified as a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivision (g). (People v. Khamvongsa, supra, 8 Cal.App.5th at p. 1242.) "There is no dispute in this case that [defendant] successfully petitioned for the reclassification of her prior felony conviction to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, subdivision (g). Based on the unambiguous language of section 1170.18, subdivision (k), the court must treat [defendant's] prior conviction as a misdemeanor for all purposes, including when determining whether she qualifies for relief under section 1203.4a." (Khamvongsa, supra, 8 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1244-1245.)

"In order to qualify for relief under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), a defendant must have suffered a misdemeanor conviction, not be charged

with or convicted of a subsequent crime, and have, since the date of that judgment, lived "an honest and upright life." (Khamvongsa, at p. 1243; People v. Hamdon (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 1065, 1069.)

Expungement has long been considered "a reward for good conduct." (Meyer v. Superior Court (1966) 247 Cal.App.2d 133, 140; see also People v. Bradus (2007) 149 Cal.App.4th 636, 641.) However, the expungement statutes have never required a showing of "complete reformation." (People v. Bradley, supra, 248 Cal.App.2d at p. 889.)

Typically, a grant of expungement applies in the situation of a probationer convicted of a felony or misdemeanor. "The granting of probation is not only an act of clemency, but also a bargain made with the probationer. 'The purpose and hope are, of course, that through this act of clemency, the probationer may become reinstated as a law-abiding member of society. Removal of the blemish of a criminal record is the reward held out through the provisions of Penal Code, section 1203.4, as an additional inducement. The obvious purpose is to secure law compliance through an attempt at helpful cooperation rather than by coercion or punishment."

(People v. Arata (2007) 151 Cal.App.4th 778, 783; People v. Johnson (1955) 134 Cal.App.2d 140, 143.) Expungement relief is also considered a step toward a certificate of rehabilitation and can allow a defendant to lawfully represent to prospective employers that he has no prior conviction.

(People v. Arata, supra, 151 Cal.App.4th at p. 788.)

The court in the instant case found that custodial time did not qualify as honest and upright living for expungement purposes. (RT 41, 53.)

However, nothing in section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) dictates where a defendant's honest and upright life must be lived. (§1203.4a, subd. (a).) The purpose of the expungement provisions is to reward law abiding or exemplary conduct. It is the conduct that matters and not the location of said conduct. Otherwise, section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) would have required a period of honest and upright living for one year after release from custody rather than one year from the judgment of conviction. (§1203.4a, subd. (a).)

In theory, a defendant could live as a recluse in a cabin in a California mountain for several years after his release, and then seek expungement under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) on the grounds that he had lived an honest and upright life since the pronouncement of judgment. While such a reclusive defendant should obtain relief, his good behavior as a mountain man recluse is in many ways less praiseworthy than another defendant's good behavior while in custody. As a hermit, the mountain man had little opportunity for misbehavior considering the relative lack of "outside temptation." (Maya, supra, 33 Cal.App.5th at p. 270.)

In contrast, time spent in custody affords endless opportunity for

malfeasance. Inmates engage in drug trafficking, sexual assault, organizing criminal enterprises, escape attempts, sale of contraband, extortion, gang activity, manufacturing weapons, gambling, violence against inmates and custodial officers, and witness intimidation. The dissenting opinion, citing penal statutes enacted to curb criminal activity, recognizes this feature of modern institutional settings. (*Maya*, *supra*, at p. 272.) If anything, good behavior in such an environment could be considered a testament to one's good character.

In addition, one objective in sentencing is to encourage "the defendant to lead a law abiding life in the future and deterring him or her from future offenses." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.410, subd. (a)(3).) If defendants engage in good conduct while in custody, then they are on the road to achieving a future law abiding life. "It is not absurd to encourage their compliance with the law and institutional rules pending their release." (Maya, supra, at p. 273 [Tangeman, J., dissenting].)

Furthermore, under the plain language of section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), a court has the authority to consider a defendant's good behavior while in custody in granting an expungement motion. (*People v. Birkett* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 226, 231 [court should apply plain and ordinary meaning of statutory language].)

Under the plain language of the statute, a defendant can seek relief

one year after the pronouncement of judgment even if six months of that period was spent in jail serving the underlying misdemeanor sentence.

Thus, if a defendant is ordered to serve 365 days for a misdemeanor conviction with no probation, then he can seek expungement one year after sentence is pronounced. (*People v. Chandlee* (1979) 90 Cal.App.3d Supp. 13, 19-20 [defendant was eligible for relief one year after conviction].) The statute does not require a defendant to wait one year after being released from jail. (*Id.*)

As such, a defendant need only live an honest and upright life one year since the pronouncement of judgment. This specific passage of time "is the date upon which eligibility for section 1203.4a relief attaches."

(Chandlee, at p. 20.) This specific feature of the statute was recognized by Justice Tangeman in his dissenting opinion. (Maya, at p. 272.)

A defendant who is sentenced to 365 days in jail would typically serve probably half of that sentence. (§4019.) Thus, he would be technically eligible for expungement approximately six months after his release. (§1203.4a, subd. (a).) Logic would dictate that the defendant's good behavior while serving the misdemeanor sentence should be factored into whether he lived an honest and upright life for the one-year period since the pronouncement of judgment. Justice Tangeman noted that "this includes time spent in custody, for the language plainly applies to misdemeanants

denied probation and sentenced outright, commencing 'from the date of pronouncement of judgment,' not the date of release from custody." (Maya, at p. 272; §1203.4a, subd. (a).)

As a matter of public policy, such custodial time might serve as the stepping stone for reform, and it would be an incentive for inmates serving a misdemeanor sentence to behave in jail knowing the period would count for expungement purposes. Such an outcome can result from applying the the plain meaning of the statute. (*Maya*, at p. 273 [Tangeman, J., dissenting].)

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