In the Supreme Court of the State of California

DEC 09 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Deputy

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S255371

v.

MISAEL VENCES MAYA,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Division Six, Case No. B290589 Ventura County Superior Court, Case No. 201031209 The Honorable Bruce Young, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Subdivision (a) of section 1203.4a permits petitioners like Maya to request that a court set aside a misdemeanor conviction

at any time after the lapse of one year from the date of pronouncement of judgment, if he or she fully complied with and performed the sentence of the court, is not then serving a sentence for any offense and is not under charge of commission of any crime, and has, since the pronouncement of judgment, lived an honest and upright life and has conformed to and obeyed the laws of the land[.]

(§ 1203.4a, subd. (a).) There is no dispute that Maya met four of the five eligibility requirements contained in subdivision (a). Maya waited for one year from the date of the pronouncement of judgment; he fully complied with and performed the sentence of the court; he was not serving a sentence for any offense or charged with a crime when he filed his expungement petition; and there is no suggestion that he broke any laws while in custody.²³ The only question before this Court is whether the trial court abused its discretion in determining that Maya failed to establish that he had, "since the pronouncement of judgment, lived an honest and upright life[.]" (§ 1203.4a, subd. (a).)

²² As noted above, Maya was convicted on July 7, 2011. (CT 33-37.)

²³ The People argued before the Court of Appeal that Maya was ineligible for relief because he was placed in immigration custody as a result of his prior methamphetamine possession conviction, so he was "then serving a sentence for any offense" or "under charge of commission of any crime." (Resp. Ans. 13-14.) The People now agree that Maya has met the requirement that he not be "serving a sentence for any offense and is not under charge of commission of any crime." (§ 1203.4a, subd. (a).)

Maya devotes his opening brief to arguing that a court may consider a petitioner's time in custody in making this determination. The People agree. Nothing in the text of section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) categorically forbids a court from considering custodial actions and achievements in assessing whether a petitioner has lived an "honest and upright life." But Maya ignores the high bar that this language sets for relief. As explained below, the showing for an "honest and upright" life for purposes of section 1203.4a is similar to that required by section 4852.05. A petitioner must make more than the negative showing that he or she has not broken any laws or rules. Rather, the petitioner must make the affirmative showing that he or she has been rehabilitated—that the petitioner has put his or her past criminal challenges behind and has restored himself or herself as a responsible member of society.

This can be a difficult showing to make for a petitioner who has spent all of the relevant time in custody—particularly where the petitioner's own past failures relate to temptations from the outside world. In those circumstances, a trial court may appropriately conclude that a petitioner has not proven to its satisfaction that he or she has been rehabilitated by pointing solely to his or her conduct in custody and relying primarily on the absence of misconduct. And that is what appears to have occurred in this case. While the record is not the model of clarity, it shows that the trial court in its discretion considered the sparse evidence presented by Maya and found it lacking to show Maya rehabilitated from his previous substance abuse-related problems. The court did not abuse its discretion in denying relief on the record presented here.

ARGUMENT

I. THE "HONEST AND UPRIGHT LIFE" REQUIREMENT IN SECTION 1203.4a SETS A HIGH BAR FOR EXPUNGEMENT

The interpretation of a statute is reviewed de novo. (People v. Prunty (2015) 62 Cal.4th 59, 71.) The rules of construction are well-known to this Court. Courts must ascertain the Legislature's intent to effectuate the purpose of the statute. (People v. Ruiz (2018) 4 Cal.5th 1100, 1105.) They begin by "examining the words of the statute, affording them their ordinary and usual meaning and viewing them in their statutory context." (People v. Colbert (2019) 6 Cal.5th 596, 603 [internal quotation omitted]; see also § 4 [provisions of Penal Code "construed according to the fair import of their terms, with a view to effect [the Penal Code's] objects and to promote justice"].) The language should be interpreted to "effectuate the purpose of the law," and to give significance "if possible, to every word, phrase or sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose." (Quintano v. Mercury Casualty Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 1049, 1055.) The text of the statute "must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (Ibid.) If the statute's text is clear, its plain meaning controls. (People v. Ruiz, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 1106.) But if the words are susceptible to more than one meaning, courts must turn to other indicia of legislative purpose. (*Ibid.*) The statute's objectives, its legislative history, and the wider historical circumstances of its enactment may assist in ascertaining the Legislature's intent. (Ibid; Carmack v. Reynolds (2017) 2 Cal.5th 844, 850.)

Applying these rules, section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) should be read to require a petitioner to establish not only that he or she has not broken any laws or rules, but affirmatively that the petitioner has overcome his or her particular problems and challenges and is a reformed member of society.

A. Living an "Honest and Upright Life" Demands More Than Mere Compliance With Laws

Before the trial court, Maya's attorney placed great emphasis on the fact Maya had not been re-arrested while in custody and met "jail conditions." (See, e.g., RT 45.) Maya maintains the claim that such a showing is adequate to demonstrate an "honest and upright life" here. (OBM 18, 20.) But to be eligible for expungement, a petitioner must show that he or she "has, since the pronouncement of judgment, lived an honest and upright life and has conformed to and obeyed the laws of the land[.]" (§ 1203.4a, subd. (a), italics added.) Reading "honest and upright life" simply to require adherence to laws would render the second requirement superfluous. "[C]ourts should give significance to every word, phrase, and sentence of an act, and [] any construction rendering certain words surplusage should be avoided." (Walker v. Superior Court (1988) 47 Cal.3d 112, 121-22; see also Cal. Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 634 ["In analyzing statutory language, we seek to give meaning to every word and phrase in the statute to accomplish a result consistent with the legislative purpose."].) While a crime-free life may flow from an "honest and upright life," the absence of convictions, standing alone, is not sufficient to prove honest and upright living.²⁴

A reading of "honest and upright life" that gives it independent force, separate from the obey-all-laws clause, also finds support in the drafting history of section 1203.4a, subdivision (a). First, as noted, the Legislature specifically rejected a proposal that would have granted expungement to

²⁴ Like Maya, the dissenting justice misread section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) to require "only that the misdemeanant comply with the law for one year following conviction." (*People v. Maya*, *supra*, 33 Cal.App.5th at pp. 272; see also *id.* at p. 273 [requiring proof only that Maya "conformed his behavior to the laws of the land for one year following pronouncement of judgment"].)

any petitioner who could show that he or she had not been convicted of any non-petty crime. (See *supra*, pp. 29-31; Assem. Bill 2422 at p. 2.) Instead, the Legislature elected to require a more rigorous showing: that a petitioner has been rehabilitated—through honest and upright living—in addition to conforming to and obeying the laws of the land. (Assem. Bill 2422 at p. 4.) Second, the Legislature elected to track the language from section 4852.05—likely because, without a probation sentence, the Legislature did not have a readily available proxy for rehabilitation, as it did for petitioners covered by section 1203.4. Accordingly, both sections 1203.4a and 4852.05 require positive proof of an "honest and upright life." (See *Wasatch Prop. Mgmt. v. Degrate* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1111, 1118 ["When the legislature has carefully employed a term in one place and has excluded it in another, it should not be implied where excluded."].)

B. An "Honest and Upright Life" Requires Affirmative Evidence of Rehabilitation

"When attempting to ascertain the ordinary, usual meaning of a word, courts appropriately refer to the dictionary definition of that word."

(Wasatch Prop. Mgmt. v. Degrate, supra, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 1121-22.)

"Honest" is defined in dictionary sources to mean "legitimate, truthful," "of good repute: estimable," "virtuous in the eyes of society: reputable," "of a creditable nature: praiseworthy," "characterized by integrity: adhering to principle: upright." (Webster's 3d New Internat. Dict. (1971) p. 1086;

Merriam-Webster.com (2019) https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/honest [as of Dec. 3, 2019] ["free from fraud or deception"; "genuine, real"; "reputable, respectful"; "worthy of praise"; "marked by integrity"].) "Upright" is similar. It is defined as being "marked by strong moral rectitude: morally correct" and implies "strict"

regard for the right and resolute, thoughtful adherence to high moral principles." (Webster's 3d New Internat. Dict. (1971) p. 2518; Merriam-Webster.com (2019) < https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/upright> [as of Dec. 3, 2019] ["UPRIGHT, HONEST, and JUST mean having or showing a great concern for what is right. UPRIGHT means having high moral standards in all areas of life."].)

Both words reflect the Legislature's intent that the petitioner show he or she has been rehabilitated (see Assem. Bill 2422 at p. 4)—that is, "restor[ed] ... to a useful and constructive place in society." (See Merriam-Webster.com (2019) https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/rehabilitation [as of Dec. 3, 2019]). Indeed, when enacting section 1203.4a, the Legislature specifically identified the provision as an "act ... relating to the *rehabilitation* of misdemeanants." (Assem. Bill 2422 at p. 4, italics added.) As this Court noted in interpreting identical language in section 4852.05 governing "certificate of rehabilitation" relief for felons, the "standards for determining whether rehabilitation has occurred are high," and the requirements for a certificate of rehabilitation are "strict[ly]" construed. (*People v. Ansell, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 887; *People v. Shepard, supra*, 239 Cal.App.4th at p. 795.)

To be sure, the procedures set out in the certificate of rehabilitation scheme contemplate exhaustive proceedings to determine whether a felon has been rehabilitated. (§§ 4852.01-4852.16.) Section 4852.05 also requires proof that a petitioner has conducted himself or herself with "sobriety and industry" and exhibited a "good moral character," which go beyond the requirements also contained in section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), of living an "honest and upright life" free from criminal activity. (§ 4852.05.) The procedures in section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) are less involved. And a petitioner seeking expungement of a qualifying misdemeanor is not required to separately show "sobriety and industry" and

"good moral character," as is required of felons seeking a certificate of rehabilitation under section 4852.05. (§ 1203.4a, subd. (a).) But the bottom-line inquiry of both provisions is the same: Is the petitioner rehabilitated? The additional language in section 4852.05 likely reflects the nature of the rehabilitative inquiry for the felons covered by the statute. The Legislature could sensibly require felons to prove rehabilitation through a more rigorous list of elements than petitioners seeking expungement of misdemeanors. Conversely, the rehabilitative inquiry for a petitioner convicted of a misdemeanor is likely less demanding than the rehabilitative inquiry for a convicted felon, just as the underlying offenses are generally less serious.

Under both statutes, the "honest and upright life" requirement should nonetheless be read to serve the same purpose. "Identical language appearing in separate provisions dealing with the same subject matter should be accorded the same interpretation." (*Walker v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 132; see also *Cal. Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 643 ["[A] word or phrase, or its derivatives, accorded a particular meaning in one part or portion of a law, should be accorded the same meaning in other parts or portions of the law."].) In section 4852.05, the requirement tests whether the petitioner "has demonstrated by his or her course of conduct his or her rehabilitation and his or her fitness to exercise all of the civil and political rights of citizenship." (§ 4852.13). In section 1203.4a, subdivision (a), the "honest and upright life" requirement tests the "rehabilitation of misdemeanants." (Assem. Bill 2422 at p. 4.)

Maya suggests that expungement under subdivision (a) should be available to him even if he is unable to show "complete reformation." (OBM 16.) But the cases Maya cites in support describe the purpose of the expungement scheme in section 1203.4, which does not contain an "honest

and upright life" requirement, but only the requirement that the petitioner has completed his or her term of probation. If Maya's point is only that perfection is not required for a court to grant relief under section 1203.4, the People agree. (See *supra*, pp. 25-26.)

There are parallels between what a petitioner under section 1203.4a. subdivision (a) will be required to affirmatively establish and what a probationer implicitly demonstrates by proving the successful completion of probation. As explained above (supra, n. 17), a court may impose conditions of probation to help a probationer "avoid future criminality." (People v. Moran, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 403.) The conditions imposed will vary with the history and characteristics of a particular defendant, and may include more strict conditions as the defendant's criminal record grows more aggravated. The successful completion of probation will often encompass the completion of requirements—like education courses, or substance abuse treatment programs—that tend to rehabilitate the probationer. While the petitioner under section 1203.4 is required only to prove the completion of probation, that showing necessarily also demonstrates the completion of requirements that tend to prove rehabilitation. Those subsumed requirements are similar to what showing a petitioner under section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) must make to prove an "honest and upright life."

C. A Court May Consider Custodial Conduct and Achievements, But Proving Rehabilitation in the Custodial Context May Be Particularly Challenging

As the foregoing analysis reflects, nothing in the text, structure or purpose of section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) categorically forbids a trial court from considering custodial time in evaluating whether a petitioner has been rehabilitated. The People therefore agree with Maya that section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) contains no restriction "about *where* a

defendant must lead an honest and upright life." (OBM 25, italics added.) Section 1203.4a, subdivision (a) therefore permits a "court to consider an individual's time spent in" any custody—immigration detention, mental health commitment, or criminal custody, for example—"as part of the determination whether that individual has lived an 'honest and upright life." (OBM 5.)

But considering detention conduct in evaluating an expungement request is distinct from finding in-custody conduct sufficient to discharge a petitioner's burden to prove rehabilitation through an "honest and upright life." As the court below observed, a "custodial setting necessarily restricts an inmate's exercise of free will[.]" (*People v. Maya, supra*, 33 Cal.App.5th at p. 270.) Moreover, "confinement necessarily precludes evidence of inmate behavior in the face of outside temptation." (*Ibid.*) Those limitations may hinder a petitioner—particularly one with an extensive criminal record—in establishing rehabilitation while in custody. And the rehabilitative analysis necessarily turns on the particular facts before the trial court. In assessing whether an individual has been rehabilitated, the trial court may consider a variety of factors, including: the nature and severity of the conviction;²⁵ a petitioner's criminal record;²⁶ efforts at self-improvement—like education courses or mental health and substance abuse treatment programs;²⁷ the presence or absence of sincere

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